



February 2009 Master's Thesis

# Protein Phosphatase 5 participates in the regulation of 53BP1 after DNA damage

Graduate School of Chosun University Department of Bio - Materials Engineering Nguyen Ngoc Hoan

## Protein Phosphatase 5 participates in the regulation of 53BP1 after DNA damage

DNA 손상 반응과정 중 Protein Phosphatase 5 에 의한 53BP1 조절기작에 대한 연구

February, 2009

Graduate School of Chosun University Department of Bio - Materials Engineering Nguyen Ngoc Hoan

## Protein Phosphatase 5 participates in the regulation of 53BP1 after DNA damage

Advisor: Professor Ho Jin You

Thesis submitted for the degree of Master of Science

October 2008

Graduate School of Chosun University Department of Bio - Materials Engineering Nguyen Ngoc Hoan

# Thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirement for the award of the degree of Master of Science

Chosun University: Professor In Youb Chang Chosun University: Professor Jae Yeoul Jun Chosun University: Professor Ho Jin You

October 2008

### **Graduate School of Chosun University**

### CONTENTS

ABSTRACT1		
I. INTRODUCTION		
II. MATERIALS AND METHODS		
1. Cell lines and Drug Treatment7		
2. Stable Cell lines7		
3. Western blot8		
4. Immunoprecipitation9		
5. Immunoflorescense analysis10		
6. Non-homologous End-Joining Assay10		
III. RESULTS		
1. PP5 binds with 53BP1 after DNA damage12		
2. Overexpression of PP5 induce the earlier dephosphorylation of 53BP1		
specifically14		
3. The 53BP1 foci formation is also influenced by rapid dephosphorylation at		
S177817		
4. Decreased expression of PP5 slightly delays dephosphorylation of		
53BP1		
5. Both Hypo- and Hyperphosphorylation of 53BP1 influence the NHEJ23		

IV. DISCUSSION	27
V. CONCLUSION	29
VI. REFERENCES	
KOREAN ABSTRACT	

### ABSTRACT

### Protein Phosphatase 5 participates in the regulation of 53BP1 after DNA damage

Nguyen Ngoc Hoan

Advisor: Prof. Ho Jin You, Ph.D., M.D. Department of Bio-Materials Science Graduate School of Chosun University Gwangju, Republic of Korea

The DNA double-strand break (DSB) is the principle cytotoxic lesion for ionizing radiation and radio-mimetic chemicals but can also be caused by mechanical stress on chromosomes or when a replicative DNA polymerase encounters a DNA single-strand break or other type of DNA lesion. Inaccurate repair or lack of repair of a DSB can lead to mutations or to genomic instability, cancer development or cell death according to apoptosis. One of the earliest events in the damage response is phosphorylation of histone H2AX at Ser139 by members of the phosphatidylinositol-3 kinase-like family of kinases such as ataxia telangiectasia mutated(ATM), ataxia telangiectasia related(Rad 3, ATR),

ATM related kinase(ATX), DNA dependant protein kinase(DNA-PK) to create  $\gamma$ -H2AX. Within minutes of DNA damage,  $\gamma$ -H2AX appears at discrete nuclear foci that contain DNA repair factors like the MRN repair complex, 53BP1, BRCA1, and MDC1. Through yeast two-hybridization system we could find several cDNAs putative interacting with 53BP1. After DNA sequencing, we found that one is a cDNA for PP5, serine/threonine phosphatase family. The binding of PP5 with 53Bp1 was highly increased after DNA damage. To evaluate the interaction of PP5 and 53BP1, we made overexpressed- and suppressed-PP5 cell lines and confirmed the effects by Western blotting and immunofluorescense analysis after DNA injury. So, we could investigate that the dephosphorylation of 53BP1 was regulated by PP5 and also influenced the maintenance and accumulation of 53BP1 foci.

#### I. INTRODUCTION

The DNA double-strand break (DSB) is the principle cytotoxic lesion for ionizing radiation and radio-mimetic chemicals but can also be caused by mechanical stress on chromosomes or when a replicative DNA polymerase encounters a DNA single-strand break or other type of DNA lesion. Inaccurate repair or lack of repair of a DSB can lead to mutations or to genomic instability, cancer development or cell death according to apoptosis (42). Cellular responses to DNA damage are tightly controlled by a group of checkpoint proteins to ensure genomic integrity and stability. DSBs are repaired by two major pathways, homologous recombination (HR) and non-homologous end joining (NHEJ). During HR, the damaged chromosome enters into synapsis with, and retrieves genetic information from, an undamaged DNA molecule with which it shares extensive sequence homology. In contrast, NHEJ bring about the ligation of two DNA DSBs without the requirement for extensive sequence homology between DNA ends, does not need synapsis of the broken DNA with an undamaged partner DNA molecule, leading to imprecise joining. The repair of DSBs by NHEJ requires at least five proteins. Three are components of the DNA-dependent protein kinase (DNA-PK) complex, the two DNA end-binding subunits of Ku (Ku70 and Ku80), and the catalytic subunit termed DNA-PKcs. The remaining two are DNA ligase IV and Xrcc4.

One of the earliest events in the damage response is phosphorylation of histone

H2AX at ser139 by members of the phosphatidylinositol-3 kinase-like family of kinases such as ataxia telangiectasia mutated(ATM), ataxia telangiectasia related(Rad 3, ATR), ATM related kinase(ATX), DNA dependant protein kinase(DNA-PK) (PI3KK) to create  $\gamma$ -H2AX (4). Within minutes of DNA damage,  $\gamma$ -H2AX appears at discrete nuclear foci that contain DNA repair factors like the MRN (Mre11/Nbs1/Rad50) repair complex, p53 binding protein 1 (53BP1), BRCA1, and MDC1. 53BP1 is one of the two p53 binding proteins identified in one of the earliest implementations of the yeast two-hybrid screen (5). It contains two tightly packed tudor domains that binds methylated K79 of histone H3(6) or K20 of histone H4 (7) and a C-terminal tandem BRCT domains. BRCT domains are thought to be protein-protein interaction domains and are found in many DNA damage response proteins (8, 9). 53BP1 is phosphorylated after ionizing radiation (IR) in anataxia telangiectasia mutated (ATM)-dependent fashion and colocalizes with those of phosphorylated histone H2AX and the Mre-11/Nbs1/Rad50 complex to regions of DNA DSBs (10-12). Furthermore, moderate checkpoint defects have been reported in cells depleted of 53BP1 (13). Analysis of 53BP1 knockout (KO) mice confirmed an important role for 53BP1 in genomic stability (Morales et al., 2003; Ward et al., 2003), with null mice recapitulating some of the ATM-deficient phenotypes, although they were less severe (14, 15). The function of 53BP1 is not well known but several papers reported that 53BP1 is strongly related with NHEJ repair (16, 17).



Fig. 1. The structure of genome and 53BP1 domain

Protein phosphatase 5 (PP5) is a member of the serine/threonine phosphatase family that also includes PP1, PP2A, and PP2B. PP5 is unique among phosphatases in that it contains a series of 34-amino acid tetratricopeptide repeat (TPR) motifs that serve as a protein-protein interaction domain (18). Through the TPR domain, PP5 interacts with a number of proteins and has been reported to be involved in regulating various biological processes such as the activity of glucorcorticoid receptor (19), apoptosis (20), and cell growth (21). Recently, it is known that PP5 plays an important role in DNA damage repair and cell cycle arrest by attenuating the activities of two closely related checkpoint kinases, ATM and ATR (22, 23). Another report shows that PP5 interacts with DNA-

PKcs and dephosphorylates with specificity at least two functional sites (24). More recent work utilizing cells from PP5-deficient mice have also confirmed that PP5 participate in ATM-mediated G2/M DNA damage checkpoint pathway (25).

As mentioned by Wechsler et al. (24), little is known about the dephosphoryltion of DNA damage response (DDR) proteins after repair process. So, we investigated the dephosphorylation and the change of DNA foci formation corresponding dephosphorylation of 53BP1, one of the important DNA damage response proteins. To evaluate this, we chose the PP5 as a candidate phosphatase responsible for the dephosphorylation of 53BP1.



Fig. 2. The participation of 53BP1 into the DNA damage checkpoint machinery

#### **II. MATERIALS AND METHODS**

#### 1. Cell lines and Drug Treatment

The following cell lines were used in this study: U2OS, U2OS-PO (U2OS transfected with full-length human PP5), and U2OS-PS (U2OS transfected with siPP5 construct). U2OS cell line was grown in McCoy's 5A medium supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum, 10 ug/ml streptomycin, and 10 units/ml penicillin at 37°C with 5% CO2 incubator and checked by microscope for everyday. U2OS-PO and -PS cells were grown under neomycin condition (800ug/ml). To cause DNA damage, exponentially growing cells were treated with 200 ng/ml neocarzinotatin (NCS, Sigma-Aldrich) and harvested at different times after treatment (time-dependent 0h, 1h, 3h, 6h, 12h and 24h).

#### 2. Stable Cell Lines

Full-length human PP5 cDNA was directly cloned into the pcDNA 3.1 TOPO using PP5 gene-specific primers 5'- ATG GCG ATG GCG GAG GGC GA-3'and 5'-GAA TTC CAT TCC TAG CTG CAG CAG-3'. Synthetic siRNA duplex for PP5 (AAC AUA UUC GAG CUC AAC GGU) was purchased from Bioneer and cloned into the pSilencer TM neo (Ambion) (22). The resulted plasmids were transfected into U2OS using Lipofectamin 2000 (Invitrogen). The cells were cultured in McCoy's 5A medium supplemented with 10% FBS. After 24 h, G418 antibiotic (Sigma-Aldrich) was added to

the culture medium at a concentration of 800 ug/ml to select G418-resistant colonies. After 4 weeks of culture with the change of the G418-containing medium every 3 days, G418-resistant colonies were isolated and confirmed by western blot.

#### 3. Western Blot

Cells were washed with phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) and lysed on ice for 5 minutes by M-PER (Mammalian Protein Extraction Reagent, Thermo-Scientific) buffer added with Protease Inhibitor Cocktail tablet EDTA free (Roche). After incubation, extracts were mixed for 5 minutes using micro tube mixer (Tomy MT360) and centrifuged at 13,000 rpm for 15 minutes. The supernatant was diluted with 5X SDS-sample buffer that contains 125mM Tris (Amresco), 960mM Glycine (Amresco), 0.5% SDS (sodium dodecyl sulfate, Amresco) and boiled in 5minutes. After cellular protein concentrations were determined using the dye-binding microassay (Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA), samples were loaded 10 µg, 20 µg or 50 µg (amount depends on target antibodies) per lane and electrophoresed on 6% or 8% SDS polyacrylamide gels. The proteins were blotted onto Polyvinylidene Fluoride transfer membranes (PVDF, BiotraceTM, Pall Corporation). After electroblotting, the membranes were blocked by 5% non-fat dry milk (skim milk) in Tris buffer saline containing 0.1% Tween-20 (TBST, 10 mM Tris-HCl, pH 7.4, 150 mM NaCl, 0.1% Tween-20) at room temperature for 1 hour. The membranes were then rinsed with TBST and then incubated with appropriate primary antibodies

against: phospho-53BP1 (S1778) (Cell signaling Technology), 53BP1 (Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Santa Cruz, CA), phospho-BRCA1 (T68) (Cell signaling Technology), BRCA1 (Santa Cruz Biotechnology), PP5 (BD bioscience), and  $\alpha$ -Tubulin (NeoMarkers) in TBST at 4°C overnight. We followed manufacturer's protocol for dilution of all primary antibodies.

After primary antibody incubation, the membranes were washed with TBST and incubated with secondary antibodies diluted in TBST for 2 hours at room temperature, and washed again. Then the blotted proteins were visualized by developing using an enhanced chemiluminescence detection system (iNtRON, Biotech, Seoul, Korea).

#### 4. Immunoprecipitation

Cells were washed with phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) and lysed on ice for 20minutes in RIPA buffer (25mM Tris-HCl, pH 7.6, 150mM NaCl, 1% NP-40, 0.5% Sodium deoxycholate, 0.1% SDS) supplemented with Protease Inhibitor Cocktail Tablet (Roche). After incubation, total cell extracts were sonicated and centrifuged at 13,000 rpm at  $4^{\circ}$ C for 20minutes. 2mg of extracts were incubated with either 2µg 53BP1 antibody (Santa Cruz Biotechnology) and 2µg control IgG (Santa Cruz Biotechnology) and protein A-Sepharose beads (Santa Curz Biotechnology) for overnight at 4 °C in a total volume of 1ml with shaking. The beads were then gently washed three times with PBS, and the precipitated complexes were resuspended in 2X-SDS sample loading buffer.

electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE), 50µl of total cell extracts were used as the input, then transferred to polyvinylidene difluoride membrane, and immunoblotted using an enhanced chemiluminescence detection system (iNtRON, Biotech, Seoul, Korea).

#### 5. Immunofluorescence Analysis

Essentially the standard procedure was followed (40). All cells grown on cover slips were briefly rinsed with PBS and fixed with freshly prepared 2% paraformaldehyde in PBS for 15 minutes. Slides were either directly processed or added 70% Ethanol (EtOH) and stored at 4°C for later analysis within 1 month. After being washed with PBS, the cover slips were blocked in 5% BSA in PBS for 1 hour at RT then incubated overnight at 4°C with the following primary antibodies: mouse monoclonal g-H2AX (ser-139), 1: 200 (Upstate Biotechnology); rabbit polyclonal 53BP1 (ser 1778), 1: 100 (Cell Signaling Technology, Beverly, MA). Secondary antibodies labeled with Alexa 488 or Alexa 594 (Molecular Probes) were added at 1: 200 and were incubated at RT for 1 h. Slides were mounted with containing DAPI. Images were acquired with Nikon ELIPSE 80i microscope.

#### 6. Nonhomologous End-Joining Assay

To document a role for 53BP1 phosphorylation in NHEJ, we used the plasmid pEGFP-Peml-Ad2 (41). Briefly, the NHEJ reporter plasmid was digested with HindIII for overnight and purified by using a Qiagen gel extraction kit. U2OS, U2OS-1, and U2OS-2 cells were transfected by using a lipofectamine 2000 (Invitrogen) according to

manufacturer's instructions. In a typical reaction, 5 X  $10^5$  cells were transfected with 0.5µg of predigested NHEJ reporter substrate along with 0.5µg of pDsRed2-N1 (Clontech) to serve as transfection control. Expression of GFP (Green Florescence Protein) and DsRed was monitored by fluorescence microscopy (Nikon, Eclipse TE2000-U). After transfection, cells were incubated for 48h. Cells then were harvested, resuspended in 0.5 ml of PBS, pH 7.4 (GIBCO, Invitrogen), and analyzed by FACS (Fluorescence Activated Cell Sorting).

#### **III. RESULTS**

#### 1. PP5 binds with 53BP1 after DNA damage

We performed a yeast two-hybrid screen with BRCT domain of the human 53BP1 as bait. Among the cDNAs encoding putative interacting with 53BP1 we could find the cDNA for human PP5 gene which was verified by DNA sequencing. To confirm the interaction between PP5 and 53BP1, we performed co-immunoprecipitation analysis using 53BP1 antibody in U2OS and over-expressing U2OS (U2OS-PO) cells. As mentioned in several reports, it is difficult that PP5 interact with other proteins. Hence we established a stably over-expressed human wild-type PP5 in U2OS cells using pcDNA 3.1 TOPO vector. As shown in Fig. 3A, V5-His tagged PP5 could be detected at the higher position than endogenous PP5 by western blotting in U2OS-PO cells. Coimmunoprecipitation assay using 53BP1 antibody in U2OS-PO cells showed that binding between PP5 and 53BP1 highly increased 3 hours after NCS treatment (Fig. 3B). The given delay of the interaction that postulated PP5 act as phosphatase in DNA damage response. To date some papers reported that PP5 participated in DDR, three mentioned that PP5 involved a regulatory proteins of ATM (22, 25) and ATR(23) not phosphatase. Only one indicated that PP5 dephosphorylated the pT2609 and pS2056 of DNA-PKcs after DNA damage in HeLa cells (24). We could not find the changes of PP5 expression after NCS treatment either in U2OS or U2OS-PO cells (Fig. 3C).



Fig. 3. **PP5 interacts with 53BP1 after NCS-induced DNA damage**. *A*, To make PP5 over-expressing cells, U2OS cells were transfected with pcDNA 3.1-PP5 plasmid. The transfected cells were selected with G418 (800 ug/ml) for 4 weeks and then screened by Western blotting using PP5 specific antibody. Arrow indicates a V5/His tagged PP5 and arrow head endogenous PP5. *B*, U2OS and U2OS-PO cells were treated with NCS (200 ng/ml) for 3 h. Proteins were extracted by RIPA buffer and immunoprecipited with 53BP1 antibody. *C*, The level of PP5 expression was analyzed by Western botting after NCS (200 ng/ml) treatment.

# 2. Over-expression of PP5 Induces the earlier dephosphorylation of 53BP1 specifically

53BP1 was known to has several phosphorylation sites after IR-induced DNA damage (31). The phosphorylation of 53BP1 at Ser25/29 was well characterized by numerous groups, but the phosphorylaton at Ser1778 on BRCT domain of 53BP1 was little. Thus, we focused on the phosphorylation at Ser1778 of 53BP1. As expected, the phosphorylation of 53BP1 at Ser1778 was mediated by ATM after NCS-induced DNA damage (Fig, 4A). To confirm our hypothesis that PP5 may function as a phosphatase for 53BP1 after DNA damage, we compared the phosphorylation level at Ser25 and SerS1778 of 53BP1 in U2OS and U2OS-PO cells with or without NCS treatment. We found that the dephosphorylation of 53BP1 at both sites was rapidly preceded in U2OS cell. As shown in Fig. 4B, the phosphorylation of Ser1778 of 53BP1 was highest after 1 hour treatment with NCS and then decreased by time, became significantly diminished by 24 hours in U2OS cells; in U2OS-PO cells over-expressing PP5, although early phosphorylated by ATM, was not different between the two cell types, the level of pSer1778 had significantly diminished after 12h treatment. Thus, phosphorylation of Ser25 and Ser1778 was not affected by the level of PP5, but the PP5 level was related to the dephosphorylation of 53BP1. Interestingly, the phosphorylation pattern between Ser25 and Ser1778 of 53BP1 showed significantly different. The phosphorylated 53BP1 at Ser25 was detected until 24 hours maintaining similar density, meanwhile pS1778 of

53BP1 was diminished in a time-course manner (Fig. 4B). This result suggests that there are some different roles depends on phosphorylation sites of 53BP1.

From these results, we could conclude that PP5 is the phosphatase responsible for removing the phosphate group from Ser25 and Ser1778 of 53BP1 after DNA DBSs. To confirm that the dephosphorylation of 53BP1 at pSer1778 was mediated by PP5 and not by non-specific interaction, we evaluated the phosphorylation of Ser1524 of BRCA1, which contains the same BRCT domain as 53BP1 and is also known DDR protein. As shown in Fig. 4B, neither U2OS nor U2OS-PO cells showed obvious differences in the phosphorylation pattern of BRCA1 after NCS treatment. Thus, the dephosphorylation of pSer1778 of 53BP1 appears to occur via a specific interaction mediated by PP5.



Fig. 4. **PP5 participates in the dephosphorylation of 53BP1 at Ser25 and Ser1778 after repair process.** *A*, To indentify the kinase responsible for the phosphorylation of 53BP1 at Ser1778, U2OS cells were transfected with siRNA for ATM and ATR using lipofectamin reagent. After 48 h, NCS (200 ng/ml) was treated to all cells for 1h and the phosphorylation of 53BP1 at Ser1778 was analyzed by Western blotting. *B*, The dephosphorylation of 53BP1 was mediated specifically by PP5. U2OS and U2OS-PO cells were treated with NCS (200 ng/ml) and then harvested the cells in a time-course manner (1 h, 3 h, 6 h, 12 h, and 24 h). The phosphorylation patterns of 53BP1 and BRCA1 were analyzed by Western blotting using indicated antibodies.

#### 3. The 53BP1 foci formation is also influenced by rapid dephosphorylation at S1778

In response to ionizing radiation, 53BP1 rapidly colocalizes with  $\gamma$ -H2AX. H2AX, a variant of histone H2A, becomes phosphorylated and forms foci at sites of DSBs after DNA damage. The number, as well as appearance and disappearance of 53BP1 foci, matched almost completely with that of  $\gamma$ -H2AX (27, 28). Although the phosphorylation activity has been studied in detail, little is known about the corresponding dephosphorylation and detachment from DNA DSBs. Generally, it is regarded that either the phosphorylated protein has to be degraded or the phosphate group has to be removed. So, we tried to analyze the relationship between foci formation and dephosphorylation of 53BP1 by immunoflurescence study in U2OS and U2OS-PO cells (Fig. 5). The pattern of 53BP1 and  $\gamma$ -H2AX foci formation was evaluated by timedependent manner, from 0 hour to 24 hours, after NCS-induced DNA damage. As shown in Fig.3, we could find that DNA foci pattern of pS1778 53BP1 was different in U2OS and U2OS-PO cells. In U2OS cells, DNA foci of pS1778 53BP1 was seen like numerous small and fused type at 1 hour and then changed to larger and decreased foci number at 24 hours by time-course. These patterns of foci formation were well matched with the result of Western blotting for pS1778 53BP1 (Fig. 4). However, the pattern of pS1778 53BP1 foci was changed in U2OS-PO cells (Fig. 5). We could find a little similar pattern up to 3 hours in both cells. Although the number of 53BP1 foci was smaller in U2OP-PO cells than U2OS, the foci of pS1778 53BP1 was well matched with  $\gamma$ -H2AX foci at 3

hours. Generally, many DDR proteins phosphorylated by PI3KK family like ATM, ATR or DNA-PKcs after DNA injury and then recruited and participated in repair processes at DNA break sites (29, 30). The phosphorylation of 53BP1 mediated by ATM and ATR after DNA damage well studied using mass spectrometer (31).

In U2OS-PO cells after NCS-induced DNA damage, both the number and size of g-H2AX foci followed a pattern almost identical to that seen in U2OS cells (Fig. 5). To again confirm the specificity of PP5 for 53BP1, we analyzed the formation of pSer1524-BRCA1 and pS1981-ATM foci after DNA damage; as for g-H2AX, there were no differences in the foci patterns between cells (data not shown). These data reconfirm that the interaction between PP5 and phosphorylated 53BP1 is specific.



Fig. 5. The maintenance of 53BP1 foci is affected with the phosphorylation status caused by PP5 over-expression. U2OS and U2OS-PO cells were grown on cover-slides and then treated with NCS (200 ng/ml). 53BP1 and  $\gamma$ -H2AX foci were analyzed by mentioned in experimental procedure using antibodies specific for the phosphorylation-form.

#### 4. Decreased Expression of PP5 Slightly Delays Dephosphorylation of 53BP1

To evaluate that PP5 really participate in the dephosphorylation of 53BP1 and is only phosphatase for 53BP1 after DNA damage, we established PP5-suppressed cell line using previous reported sequences (22). Firstly, we cloned siRNA duplex for PP5 into the pSilenser vector and then transfected the siPP5 plasmid into U2OS cell. Under G418 selection for 4 weeks we could obtain several PP5-suppressed U2OS clones. Through western blotting we screened those clones and chosen well suppressed one clone. The results of Western blot and IF analysis showed that PP5 expression is well suppressed (Fig. 6A and B). We tried to confirm the activity of PP5 as a phosphase at pS1778 53BP1 in PP5-suppressed U2OS cells -U2OS-PS. As expected we could find that dephosphorylation at pS1778 of 53BP1 was maintained until 24 hours after NCS treatment in U2OS-PS cells (Fig. 6C). In U2OS cells, the level of pS1778 53BP1 showed a peak at 30 min and then decreased slowly until 24 hours. At 24 hours we could see that pS1778 53BP1 was completely disappeared. However, the level of pS1778 53BP1 was high at 1 hour and then decreased slightly at 3 hours in U2OS-PS cells. The level of pS1778 53BP1 at 3 hours continuously maintained up to 12 hours and decreased again at 24 hours. However, we could not convince that PP5 is an only enzyme participating with dephosphorylation of 53BP1. Recently, Travesa and colleagues reported for the dephosphorylation of Rad53, which plays a central role in preventing genomic instability and maintaining viability in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. According to their data, Rad53

kinase was dephosphorylated by different enzymes, Ptc2/3 and Pph3, depends on DNA damages (34).

Next, we investigated the influence of PP5 suppression on foci formation by pSer1778-53BP1 after DNA damage in U2OS-PS cells. As shown in Fig. 5, there are some differences in pSer1778-53BP1 foci formation between U2OS and U2OS-PS cells. At 1 hour after DNA damage, the foci of pS1778-53BP1 were similar between U2OS and U2OS-PS cells; however, after 3 h, the pattern of foci formation differed between the two. In U2OS cells, the number of pSer1778-53BP1 foci decreased and the size increased in a time-dependent manner; in contrast, the number and size of pSer1778-53BP1 foci were maintained from 3 to 24 h in U2OS-PS cells. These foci patterns are almost identical to the patterns on Western Blots after DNA damage. Thus, the maintenance of 53BP1 is strongly related with the phosphorylation status, which may also influence the repair process after DNA damage.



Fig. 6. The phosphorylation level of 53BP1 at Ser1778 is prolonged in U2OS-PS cells. *A-B*, U2OS cells were transfected with psilencer vector including siPP5 sequences to establish a PP5 suppressed cells. Selected clones under G418 condition (800 ug/ml) were screened by Western blotting (A) and IF (B) and named to U2OS-PS cells. *C*, U2OS-PS cells, PP5 suppressed cells, were treated with NCS (200 ng/ml) and harvested by time-dependent (1 h, 3 h, 6 h, 12 h, and 24 h). The phosphorylation level of 53BP1 at Ser1778 was analyzed by Western blotting.

#### 5. Both Hypo- and Hyperphosphorylation of 53BP1 influence the NHEJ

Although it was not clearly understood about the function of 53BP1, it has been indicated that 53BP1 participated in NHEJ, not HR after DNA damage (16, 17, 35, 36). We supposed that the activity of DNA repair may be differently influenced due to the different dephosphorylation patterns of 53BP1 in U2OS-PO and U2OS-PS cells. To experimentally test this, we used three kinds of plasmids, pEGFP-Pem1-Ad2, pEGFP-Pem1, and pDsRed2-N1, and introduced the plasmid DNA for direct reporting in vivo over EGFP expression into the U2OS, U2OS-PO, and U2OS-PS cells. Fig. 8A shows the pEGFP-Pem1-Ad2 plasmid used in the experiments. The pEGFP-Pem1-AD2 was linearized by Hind III digestion that removes the Ad2 exon and enables upon successful intracellular circularization EGFP expression that can be detected and quantitated by FACS. Supercoiled pEGFP-Pem1 plasmid was used to evaluate the EGFP signal without requirement for rejoining, whereas the pDsRed2-N1 was used as transfection control. In Fig. 8B, panel 1 shows the autofluorescence of sham-transfected cells, and panel 2 the signal generated in cells transfected with 0.5 ug pEGFP-Pem1 and 0.5 ug pDsRed2-N1 plasmids simultaneously as a control. To evaluate the non-homologouse end joining efficiency in U2OS, U2OS-PO, and U2OS-PS cells, the linearized pEGFP-Pem1-Ad2 plasmids were transfected into the three cell lines and measured 24 hours later by FACS (Fig 8B panel 3, 4, and 5). When we compared the data from U2OS-PO and U2OS-PS cells with U2OS as a control, the NHEJ activities were decreased in both cells (Fig. 8C).

In five independent experiments, the NHEJ efficiency was shown  $64.9\% \pm 1.7$  in U2OS-PO cells and  $80.3\% \pm 0.6$  in U2OS-PS cells.

Generally, it was known that the repair of IR-induced DSBs is mainly performed by "core NHEJ" which is composed of DNA ligase IV/Xrcc4, Ku70/Ku80, and DNA-PKcs and Artemis (37). Iwabuchi and colleagues proposed a possibility that 53BP1 plays a role through Tudor domain which can bind chromatin and stimulate end-joining by DNA ligase IV/Xrcc4 in Ku70-dependent pathway (16). However, several reports showed that 53BP1 has a different pathway with Ku-dependent pathway for NHEJ (30, 35, 38). A recent study revealed that 53BP1 participates in a pathway distinct from Ku-dependent and Artemis-dependent NHEJ pathway, but still requires DNA ligase IV (39).



**Fig. 7. 53BP1 foci is also influenced by PP5 expression level after NCS-induced DNA damage.** U2OS and U2OS-PS cells were cultured on cover-slides and then induced DNA damage by NCS (200 ng/ml). Each slide was fixated with 3.7% PFA by time-dependent after NCS treatment and stained with antibody specific for pSer1778 of 53BP1.



**Fig. 8. NHEJ** activities show lower in U2OS-PO and U2OS-PS cells than in U2OS cells. A, map of pEGFP-Pem1-Ad2 vector. Note the Pem1 intron, the Ad2 exon and the location of the HindIII cutting sites. B, dot plots of nontransfed U2OS (1), U2OS cells co-transfected with pEGFP-Pem1 and DsRed (2), U2OS cells co-transfected with HindIII linearized pEGFP-Pem1-Ad2 and DsRed (3), U2OS-PO cells co-transfected with HindIII linearized pEGFP-Pem1-Ad2 and DsRed (4), U2OS-PS cells co-transfected with HindIII linearized pEGFP-Pem1-Ad2 and DsRed (5). C, Quantitative analysis considering signals from B data. All measurements of rejoining efficiency were carried out 24 h after transfection of the corresponding plasmids

#### **IV. DISCUSSION**

After the DNA damage, there is interaction between PP5 and 53BP1, however, it was very difficult to confirm the binding after DNA damage because our immunofluorescence data showed that the PP5 was not located predominantly at nucleus region. For the location of PP5 early reports mentioned mainly at nucleus but later suggested broadly distribution and sometimes stronger in cytoplasmic region than nucleus (26). Using co-immunoprecipitation for the binding between PP5 and 53BP1 in U2OS-PO, U2OS-PS and U2OS cells, we found that PP5 may be participated in DNA damage response as a phosphatase since interaction was increased by late time after NCS treatment.

As we compared the phosphorylation levels at Ser25 and Ser1778 in both U2OS and U2OS-PO cells, we found that the phophosrylation was mediated by ATM but there is no differences between the two cell lines. But there was little different in the expression in dephophorylation due to the level of PP5 in the two cell types. This result showed that the phosphotase PP5 has somewhat role in dephosphorylating at S1778 of 53BP1 after DNA DBSs.

53BP1 rapidly colocalizes with  $\gamma$ -H2AX in response to ionizing radiation brought about DNA strand breaks. The number, appearance and disappearance of pSer1778 53BP1 foci in both cells U2OS and U2OS-PO, matched almost completely with that of  $\gamma$ -H2AX (27, 28). By time 6 hours later damage-induced, the number of pSer1778

53BP1 foci was highly decreased and not matched with  $\gamma$ -H2AX foci. This fact indicated that detachment from DNA break sites of DDR proteins performed by dephosphorylation. Other hand, the difference in number of foci in U2OS and U2OS-PO cell help confirm the specific interaction PP5 and phosphorylated 53BP1.

Under the DNA replication stress, Pph3 plays a role in dephosphorylation of Rad53 and Ptc2/3 after DNA methylation damage or replication stress. Like a Rad53, there is possibility that 53BP1 may be also dephosphorylated by different enzymes depends on type of DNA damage. The observation of the foci implied that PP5 might concern with the dephosphorylaton at S1778 of 53BP1. The decreased expression of PP5 slightly delays dephosphorylation of 53BP1. As mentioned, we could conclude that maintenance of 53BP1 is strongly related with the phosphorylation status and may also influence the repair process after DNA damage.

Recently, it was revealed that 53BP1 plays a role in a pathway distinct from Kudependent and Artemis-dependent NHEJ pathway but requires DNA ligase IV (39). In this study, the NHEJ efficiency was lower in PP5-oversexpressing cells than PP5suppressed cells. This reason could be deduced from the function of PP5. As mentioned earlier, PP5 plays a important roles in ATM/ATR-dependent repair after DNA damage (22, 23, 25) and interact with DNA-PKcs as a phosphatase(24). Thus, the over-expression of PP5 could be higher influencer to many other proteins in checkpoint signaling pathways than in suppressed condition.

#### **V. CONCLUSION**

In summary, the numerous proteins engaged in the DNA damage response and repair process after DNA injury. Among those, 53BP1 plays an important role as a mediator. However, the function of 53BP1 has not been clear, as well as the dephosphorylation and disappearing foci of 53BP1 after DNA repair was not well studied. In this study, we demonstrated that PP5 interacts with 53BP1 and participates in the dephosphorylation of Ser1778, and Ser25 of 53BP1 after DNA damage. Furthermore, we found out the maintenance of 53BP1 foci and non-homologous end joining activity were affected according to dephosphorylation status in PP5 over- and – suppressed U2OS cells. From these results, we could suppose that PP5 has an important role in DDR.

#### **V. REFERENCES**

- 1. Pfeiffer P, Goedecke W, & Obe G (2000) Mutagenesis 15, 289-302.
- 2. Khanna KK & Jackson SP (2001) Nat Genet 27, 247-254.
- Bartkova J, Horejsi Z, Koed K, Kramer A, Tort F, Zieger K, Guldberg P, Sehested M, Nesland JM, Lukas C, et al. (2005) *Nature* 434, 864-870.
- Fernandez-Capetillo O, Lee A, Nussenzweig M, & Nussenzweig A (2004) DNA Repair (Amst) 3, 959-967.
- Iwabuchi K, Bartel PL, Li B, Marraccino R, & Fields S (1994) Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 91, 6098-6102.
- Huyen Y, Zgheib O, Ditullio RA, Jr., Gorgoulis VG, Zacharatos P, Petty TJ, Sheston EA, Mellert HS, Stavridi ES, & Halazonetis TD (2004) *Nature* 432, 406-411.
- Botuyan MV, Lee J, Ward IM, Kim JE, Thompson JR, Chen J, & Mer G (2006) Cell 127, 1361-1373.
- 8. Callebaut I & Mornon JP (1997) FEBS letters 400, 25-30.
- 9. Koonin EV, Altschul SF, & Bork P (1996) Nat Genet 13, 266-268.
- 10. Anderson L, Henderson C, & Adachi Y (2001) Mol Cell Biol 21, 1719-1729.
- 11. Rappold I, Iwabuchi K, Date T, & Chen J (2001) J Cell Biol 153, 613-620.
- Schultz LB, Chehab NH, Malikzay A, & Halazonetis TD (2000) J Cell Biol 151, 1381-1390.
- 13. Wang B, Matsuoka S, Carpenter PB, & Elledge SJ (2002) Science 298, 1435-1438.
  - 30

- Morales JC, Xia Z, Lu T, Aldrich MB, Wang B, Rosales C, Kellems RE, Hittelman WN, Elledge SJ, & Carpenter PB (2003) J Biol Chem 278, 14971-14977.
- 15. Ward IM, Minn K, van Deursen J, & Chen J (2003) Mol Cell Biol 23, 2556-2563.
- Iwabuchi K, Basu BP, Kysela B, Kurihara T, Shibata M, Guan D, Cao Y, Hamada T, Imamura K, Jeggo PA, et al. (2003) *J Biol Chem* 278, 36487-36495.
- Xie A, Hartlerode A, Stucki M, Odate S, Puget N, Kwok A, Nagaraju G, Yan C, Alt FW, Chen J, et al. (2007) *Mol Cell* 28, 1045-1057.
- Becker W, Kentrup H, Klumpp S, Schultz JE, & Joost HG (1994) J Biol Chem 269, 22586-22592.
- Chen MS, Silverstein AM, Pratt WB, & Chinkers M (1996) J Biol Chem 271, 32315-32320.
- Morita K, Saitoh M, Tobiume K, Matsuura H, Enomoto S, Nishitoh H, & Ichijo H
  (2001) EMBO J 20, 6028-6036.
- von Kriegsheim A, Pitt A, Grindlay GJ, Kolch W, & Dhillon AS (2006) Nat Cell Biol 8, 1011-1016.
- 22. Ali A, Zhang J, Bao S, Liu I, Otterness D, Dean NM, Abraham RT, & Wang XF (2004) Genes Dev 18, 249-254.
- Zhang J, Bao S, Furumai R, Kucera KS, Ali A, Dean NM, & Wang XF (2005) Mol Cell Biol 25, 9910-9919.
- 24. Wechsler T, Chen BP, Harper R, Morotomi-Yano K, Huang BC, Meek K, Cleaver JE,
  - 31

Chen DJ, & Wabl M (2004) Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 101, 1247-1252.

- 25. Yong W, Bao S, Chen H, Li D, Sanchez ER, & Shou W (2007) J Biol Chem.
- 26. Hinds TD, Jr. & Sanchez ER (2007) Int J Biochem Cell Biol.
- 27. Rogakou EP, Boon C, Redon C, & Bonner WM (1999) J Cell Biol 146, 905-916.
- Paull TT, Rogakou EP, Yamazaki V, Kirchgessner CU, Gellert M, & Bonner WM (2000) *Curr Biol* 10, 886-895.
- 29. Ward I & Chen J (2004) Current topics in developmental biology 63, 1-35.
- Kobayashi J, Iwabuchi K, Miyagawa K, Sonoda E, Suzuki K, Takata M, & Tauchi H
  (2008) J Radiat Res (Tokyo) 49, 93-103.
- Jowsey P, Morrice NA, Hastie CJ, McLauchlan H, Toth R, & Rouse J (2007) DNA Repair (Amst) 6, 1536-1544.
- 32. Ward I, Kim JE, Minn K, Chini CC, Mer G, & Chen J (2006) J Biol Chem 281, 38472-38477.
- Mochan TA, Venere M, DiTullio RA, Jr., & Halazonetis TD (2004) DNA Repair (Amst) 3, 945-952.
- 34. Travesa A, Duch A, & Quintana DG (2008) J Biol Chem 283, 17123-17130.
- 35. Ward IM, Reina-San-Martin B, Olaru A, Minn K, Tamada K, Lau JS, Cascalho M, Chen L, Nussenzweig A, Livak F, et al. (2004) *J Cell Biol* 165, 459-464.
- Nakamura K, Sakai W, Kawamoto T, Bree RT, Lowndes NF, Takeda S, & Taniguchi Y (2006) DNA Repair (Amst) 5, 741-749.
  - 32

- Riballo E, Kuhne M, Rief N, Doherty A, Smith GC, Recio MJ, Reis C, Dahm K, Fricke A, Krempler A, et al. (2004) *Mol Cell* 16, 715-724.
- Manis JP, Morales JC, Xia Z, Kutok JL, Alt FW, & Carpenter PB (2004) Nature immunology 5, 481-487.
- 39. Iwabuchi K, Hashimoto M, Matsui T, Kurihara T, Shimizu H, Adachi N, Ishiai M, Yamamoto K, Tauchi H, Takata M, et al. (2006) *Genes Cells* 11, 935-948.
- Nakamura A, Sedelnikova OA, Redon C, Pilch DR, Sinogeeva NI, Shroff R, Lichten M, & Bonner WM (2006) *Methods Enzymol* 409, 236-250.
- Seluanov A, Mittelman D, Pereira-Smith OM, Wilson JH, & Gorbunova V (2004)
  Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 101, 7624-7629.
- 42. Stephen P.Jackson (2002) Carcinogenesis vol.23.no.5.pp687-696.

### <국문초록>

DNA 손상 반응과정 중 Protein Phosphatase 5 에 의한 53BP1 조절기작에 대한 연구

Nguyen Ngoc Hoan

(지도교수:유호진)

생물신소재학과

조선대학교 대학원

DNA double-strand break (DNA 이중나선절단, DSB)은 주로 방사선과 방사선 유사 물질에 의해 발생한다. 또한, 염색체에서 기계적인 스트레스와 복제과정에 DNA 중합 효소가 (DNA single-strand break )DNA 단일나선절단 같은 DNA 손상을 만났을 때 발생할 수 있다. DSB의 부정확한 복구와 복구 결핍은 돌연변이 및 유전자 불안정성 을 일으키고, 나아가 세포사멸사 및 암 유발을 유도한다. DNA 손상반응에서 초기현 상중의 하나인 y-H2AX의 형성은 ataxia telangiectasia mutated(ATM), ataxia telangiectasia related(Rad 3, ATR), ATM related kinase(ATX), DNA dependant protein kinase(DNA-PK)같은 phosphatidylinositol-3 kinase-like family of kinases(PIKK)에 의해 histone H2AX가 인산화된다. DNA 손상 수분 안에, y-H2AX

뚜렷한 foci를 형성한다. Yeast two hybrid 시스템을 통하여, 53BP1과 상호작용하는 몇 개의 유전자 중 serine/threonine phosphatase family인 PP5 유전자를 확인하였 다. PP5와 53BP1의 결합은 DNA 손상 후 크게 증가하였다. PP5와 53BP1의 상호작 용을 확인하기 위하여, PP5 과발현 세포주와 억제된 세포주를 만들고 DNA 손상후 Western blotting and immunofluorescense analysis을 수행하였다. PP5는 53BP1 의 탈 인산화를 조절하고, 또한 53BP1 foci의 축적 및 유지에 영향을 미치는 것으로 사료된다.

#### 저작물 이용 허락서

학	과	Dept.of Bio-Materials 학번 20077713 과정 석사		
성	명	한글 : 응구엔 응옥 호안 영문 : Nguyen Ngoc Hoan		
주	소	Tu Ho, Yen Phu, Yen My, Hung Yen, Vietnam		
연 ブ	락 허	E-mail : hoan.vietnam@gmail.com		
논문	제목	한글: DNA 손상 반응과정 중 Protein Phosphatase 5 에 의한 53BP1 조절기작에 대한 연구 영문: Protein phosphatase 5 participates in the regulation of 53BP1 after DNA damage		

본인이 저작한 위의 저작물에 대하여 다음과 같은 조건아래 조선대학교가 저작물을 이용할 수 있도록 허락하고 동의합니다.

-다음-

- 1. 저작물의 DB구축 및 인터넷을 포함한 정보통신망에의 공개를 위한 저작물의 복제, 기억장치에의 저장, 전송 등을 허락함
- 위의 목적을 위하여 필요한 범위 내에서의 편집 · 형식상의 변경을 허락함.
  다만, 저작물의 내용변경은 금지함.
- 3. 배포·전송된 저작물의 영리적 목적을 위한 복제, 저장, 전송 등은 금지함.
- 4. 저작물에 대한 이용기간은 5년으로 하고, 기간종료 3개월 이내에 별도의 의사표시가 없을 경우에는 저작물의 이용기간을 계속 연장함.
- 5. 해당 저작물의 저작권을 타인에게 양도하거나 또는 출판을 허락을 하였을 경우에는 1개월 이내에 대학에 이를 통보함.
- 6. 조선대학교는 저작물의 이용허락 이후 해당 저작물로 인하여 발생하는 타인에 의한 권리 침해에 대하여 일체의 법적 책임을 지지 않음
- 소속대학의 협정기관에 저작물의 제공 및 인터넷 등 정보통신망을 이용한 저작물의 전송·출력을 허락함.

2008년 10월 14일

저작자: Nguyen Ngoc Hoan (서명 또는 인)

조선대학교 총장 귀하

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

It gives me in great honor of chief supervisor, Prof. Ho Jin You and Prof. In Youb Chang for being outstanding mentors with providing Korean DNA Repair Research Center laboratory with humane environment and excellent equipments.

It is very thankful to Dr. Youn Sung Kang for his great help instructing and guiding me for my research as well as many things in life, with his help my thesis was successfully completed.

To all the KDRRC members who have helped me a lot, it is grateful for me to be in here for the past two years, it was a really good time working and sharing many things with you. Especially thank to Dr. Kim Hong Beum, who instructed me many things at the first time and few following months I came to KDRRC.

Thanks to my teachers and friends in Vietnam, Korea and Chosun University for you are always beside and encourage me. I also feel thankful to my Vietnamese lab-mates, friends, especially to Ms. Oanh who is always sharing with me most things.

I would love to express my appreciation to my family, my mother, my passed away dad, and my sisters and brother, who have always encouraged and supported me in my life and my study.

Thank you very much.

Gwangju, December 1st 2008

Nguyen Ngoc Hoan